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Introduction

This civil administrative proceeding 1is the result of a
complaint brought by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency
(sometimes EPA or complainant) on Jaﬁuary 16, 1986, pursuant
to Section 3008, 42 U.S.C. § 6928, of the Resourcé Conservation
and Recovery Act (Act), 42 U.S.C. § 6901, et. seq. and 1ts imple-
menting regulations.l/ The complaint proposed total civil penal-
ties of $15,262 for the alleged violations. Country Roads, Inc.
(respondent), served an answer to the complaint on February 10,
1986 in which it did not deny any of the violations cited in the
complaint; instead respondent explalned 1ts efforts to come into
compliance since the November 6, 1984 inspection. The respondent
requested a hearing.

Desplte settlement negotlations extendlng over a perlod of
approximately one year, the partlies were unable to reach an

agreement on the appropriate penalty amount in this case. A

1/ Pertinent provisions of Section 3008 are:

Section 3008(a)(1): "“Compliance orders. - . . . Whenever
on the basis of any informatlion the Adminlstrator determines that
any person has violated or 1s 1in violation of any requirement of
this subchapter, the Administrator may 1ssue an order assessling a
clvll penalty for any past or current violation, requiring compli-
ance lmmediately or within a specified time period or both . . . ."

Section 3008(g): "Civil penalty - Any person who violates
any requirement of this subchapter shall be llable to the Unilted
States for civil penalty in an amount not to exceed $25,000 for
each such violation. Each day of such vlolation shall, for
purposes of this subsectlon, constitute a separate violation."
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hearing in this matter was held on February 3, 1987 in Grand
Rapids, Michigan.

The complalnt, based upon 1nformation available to complain-
ant, including a November 6, 1984 compliance inspection conducted
by the Michigan Department of Natural Resources (MDNR),E/ charged
respondent with violating Sections 3002 and 3004 of the Act, 42
U.S.C. §§ 6922 and 6924, and the following regulations: 4o
C.F.R. §§ 262.34, 262.42, 265.16, 265.50 through 265.56 and
265.176 applicable to generators of hazardous waste. By the time
the complaint was 1ssued, respondent had corrected three of the
violations but had not complied with the provisions dealing with
personnel training records, a contingency plan and the 90-day
storage 1limit.

To be determined.here 1s whether or not the alleged violations
are supported by the preponderance of the evidenceé/ and if so
whether the proposed penalty 1s condign. "Preponderance of the
evidence" 1s that degree of relevant evidence which a reasonable

mind, considering the record as a whole, might accept as sufficient

E/ At the time, Michigan was not an EPA authorized state, there-
fore, the vlolations are based exclusively on the federal law of
the time.

3/ The applicable section of the Consolidated Rules of Practice,
o C.F.R. § 22.24, provides 1in pertinent part that: ". . . Each
matter 1in controversy shall be determined by the Presiding Officer
upon a preponderance of evidence."
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to support a conclusion that the matter asserted 1s more likely
to be true than not true. All issues have been considered by the
Administrative Law Judge (ALJ). Thosé questions not discussed
specifically are elther rejected or viewed as not beilng of suffi-

cient import for the resolution of the principal issues presented.

FINDINGS OF FACT

Respondent 1s in the business of refurbishing the seating of
theaters, operating since 1981 from a facility located at 1122
South Bridge Street, Belding, Michigan Uu48809. Its refinishing
operations generate hazardous waste, 1including 1iron phosphate
sludge, chromic acid, paint sludge and mask wash sludge.

EPA promulgated regulations concerning the generation, trans-
portation, treatment,‘ storage or disposal of hazardous waste
on May 19, 1980, with an effective date of November 19, 1980,
which regulations will be discussed more fully under the Conclu-
sions, infra. On June 26, 1984, respondent submitted to the EPA
a notification of Hazardous Waste Activity indicating that 1t
generates, treats, stores or disposes of EPA Hazardous Waste Nos.
FO02, F003 and F005.%/

On November 6, 1984, Elizabeth Bols (sometimes Bols or in-
spector) an environmental sanitarian and later an environmental

quality analyst with MDNR, conducted a compllance inspection of

E/ These hazardous waste are defined in 40 C.F.R. § 261.31.
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respondent's facility. A substantlial part of complainant's evi-
dence concerned the report prepared by Bols following the 1nspec-
tion of respondent's facllity.

During the 1inspection Bols, a highly credible witness,
'observed at least six drums which were identified as containing
hazardous waste by Mike Griffin (Griffin), who stated that he was
respondent's general manager.i/ The drums were located on the
side of the building but Bols neither opened them up to see how
much waste was inside, ndr did she perform a chemical analysis of
their contents. There was another building 12 feet away which
Griffin told Bols did not belong to respondent. Griffin told
Bols that the drums contained waste paint and waste solvent
(toluene and xylene) but made no reference to the amount contailned
inside each drum. Based on the size of the drums (55 gallons
each), Bols determined that respondent generated over 1,000
kilograms of hazardous waste a month. (Ex. C-7;.Tr. 33-34, L4O-
41, 84-86).

In the normal course of an 1inspection, Bols also reviewed
respondent's manifests.g/ She discovered that for one manifest,

dated June 11, 1984, respondent had not received a copy back from

2/ At the time of the hearing, Griffin was no longer in the employ
of respondent and he did not appear as a witness.

E/ A manifest is a shipping record which must be prepared whenever
waste 1s shipped out of the facility.
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the treatment storage facility and had also not filed a timely
exception report. (Tr. 34-35).

During the 1inspection, Bols also observed contalners of
hazardous waste which had not been 1labeled with the words
"Hazardous Waste" or dated with the date the perlod of accumulation
began. (Tr. 37-39). The inspector was able to determine that
some of the unmarked contalners had been storing hazardous waste
for over 90 days. In reviewlng the manifests, it was determined
that, as of November 19; 1984, the 1inspection date, the 1last
shipment of hazardous waste to leave respondents facility was on
June 11, 1984, five months earlier. Bols determined, and 1t 1s
found, because of the nature of respondent's business, it would
have generated waste _every few days, which according ¢to the
manifests, had not been shipped out since June of 19814, vthus
exceeding the 90-day limit. (Tr. 37-38).

While at the faclllty, the 1nspector reqﬁested to see
respondent's personnel training records but was told by Griffin
that they did not have any. (Tr. 92-93).

The last alleged violation cited in the inspection report
concerned respondent's fallure to develop and 1mplement a satis-
factory Contingency Plan and Emergency Procedures. The inspector
asked Griffin for a copy of respondent's contingency plan but

it did not have one that met the regulatory requirements.

Griffin provided her 1tems dealing wlth the policies of the
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company, especlally in the case of fire. However, nothing went
into the details required by the regulations, more of which will
be said under the Conclusions. Respondent only had portions of a
plan and it needed modification. (Tr. 48-53).

It 1s the practice of Bols when conducting an inspection, to
glve a facllity a copy of the regulatory provisions dealing with
the personnel training and contlingency plan. It 1is found that
she gave a copy of those regulations to respondent after explain-
ing the provisions and éuggesting various ways to develop 1ts
plan. On the copy left with respondent, the inspector underlined
key words and items, and she also made pertinent notes thereon.
(Tr. 44-46, 93-94). Bols' telephone log shows that on January 16,
1985, respondent requested a copy of the regulations pertaining
to personnel training and contingency plans. (Ex. C-9; Tr. 95-97).

Respondent argued that MDNR did not send them a copy of the
regulations until after the complaint was filed in January of
1986. (Tr. 248-49). It has already been found that the inspector
left a copy of the regulations with respondent. However, assuming,
wlthout conceding, that this were not the case, respondent misses
the point of the regulations and what 1s expected of generators of
hazardous waste. It 1s not the EPA's or MDNR's responsibility to
supply generators with a copy of the regulations before generators
are expected to obey the 1law. Respondents are charged with

knowledge of the regulations. Addltionally, respondent was put
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on notice by a letter from MDNR dated November 9, 1984 listing
all of the observed violations. The onus shifted to respondent
to take any steps necessary to come -1nto compliance with the
regulations as soon as possible.

In its letter of warning on November 9, 1984, 1listing the
violations, MDNR set December 14, 1984 as the date of expected
compliance. (Ex. C-8; Tr. 53-55). Between January 15, 1985 and
May 29, 1985, there were a series of six phone calls between MDNR
and respondent. The telephone log kept by the inspector indicates
that on more than one occasion she discussed with a representative
of respondent the nature of the violatlons and requested written
confirmation of the efforts made to bring respondent into compli-
ance with the regulations. (Ex. C-9).

On June 3, 1985; respondent wrote to Bols describing the
corrective actlions taken, particularly the disposal of stored
hazardous waste, the labeling of hazardous waste contalners, the
placement of stored 1gnitable waste to areas more than 15 meters
from the faclility's property line and the formulatlion of personnel
training records and a contingency plan. (Ex. R-1; Tr. 107).
Around thls same time, respondent also sent MDNR a copy of the
missing manifest with all the required signatures thereby bringing

them 1n compliance concerning that particular violation. (Tr.

106).
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On June 17, 1985, MDNR responded to respondent's letter
outlining the deficiencies 1n respondent's submittal. At the
hearing Bols could not remember whethér the letter precipitated
any results on the part of respondent. (Ex. C-11; Tr. 61-62).

MDNR sent a second letter of warning on July 18, 1985,
informing respondent that 1t had stlll not recelved a schedule
with the projected dates for correction of all the violatlions or
confirmation that all the vilolations have been rectifiled. The
Vletter went on to set August 12, 1985 as the last date when all
the violations had to be completely addressed or the matter would
be referred to EPA for enforcement actilon. (Ex. C-12; Tr. 62-
66).

On July 29, 1985, respondent sent MDNR coples of letters it
had sent to the local hospiltal, police and fire departments; the
state police and respondent's hauler settling up a meeting whereby
department representatives could use the facllity and coordinate
emergency services. (Ex. R-2). MDNR responded on August 6, 1985
with a letter 1informing respondent that 1ts steps to coordlnate
emergency services with local agencles remedlied one part of the
deficilencles in the contingency plan. The communication also
stated that respondent was stl1ll 1n violation of the personnel

tralning requirements and had not conflirmed removal from the

facllity of all waste within the 90-day accumulation time frame.

S
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The final correspondence between MDNR and respondent, before
issuance of the complaint, was a letter dated August 9, 1985 from
Dennis Millis (Millis) of respondent fo Bols at MDNR. Millis
enclosed a copy of the minutes of the August 6, 1985 meeting
between respondent and the representatives from the loéal agencles.
(Ex. R-4). Millis first got involved with the matter in August
of 1985 when he replaced Dave Miller (Miller) as safety director
"of the facility. Millis: purportedly followed Miller's directions
‘as to what needed to be sent to MDNR, but he did not personally
review the file until after the complaint. (Tr. 194, 211-12).
Millis testified that also included with the letter were several
documents used at and prepared for that meeting. These included
a 1list of the facllity's emergency equipment and theilr location,
a dlagram locating thé fire extinguishers and a 1list of people to
be called in case of fire with their Job description. After
sending the letter with the enclosed documents respondent thought
that 1t was In compliance, especlally since no one from MDNR got
in touch with it or told them otherwise. (Tr. 197-202). Bols
testifed that the only document included in the letter was a copy
of the minutes of the meeting. (Tr. 112-113). It 1s found that
Bols 1s a more credible witness than Millis on thils 1issue.
Additionally, even 1f the additional documents were 1included 1in

the letter they were relevant only to the contingency plan viola-

tion and did not effect either the 90-day storage or personnel
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training report violations which were still outstanding. MDNR
had set August 12, 1985 as the final date for compliance
before the case was referred to the EéA. Once the case was 8o
referred, MDNR no longer had authority over the matter and it
could only get in touch with the facility with EPA authorizatilon.
(Tr. 121-22).

In June of 1986, respondent hired Chris Putt to develop a
contingency plan., His first submittal was rejJected by EPA and
Ewith a few changes his second one was accepted. In September
1986, EPA officials notified respondent that they were finally in

full compliance with the regulations. (Tr. 227-31).

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

Section 3010 of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 6930, requires any
person who generates or transports hazardous waste or owns or
operates a facility for the treatment, storage or disposél of
hazardous waste to notify EPA of such activity within 90 days of
the promulgation of regulations under Section 3001. This Section
also provides that no hazardous waste subjJect to regulation may
be transported, treated, stored or disposed of unless the required
notification has been given.

The complaint charged respondent with six violations of the
regulations applicable to generators of hazardous waste. Respon-

dent, however, claims that because 1t 1s a "small quantlty
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generator™ the regulations are not applicable to it. A "small
quantity generator" 1s defined in 40 C.F.R. § 261.5(a) as:
A generator 1s a conditibnally
exempt small quantility generator
in a calendar month i1f he gener-
ates less than 1,000 kilograms
of hazardous waste in that month.

Complalnant established a prima facle case that respondent
generated over 1,000 kilograms of hazardous waste per month. The
MDNR inspector was not obliged to examlne every drum found at
respondent's facility. She may 1indulge 1in the assumption that
a drum 1s fllled to capaclty with hazardous waste unless and
until a respondent shows otherwlse, which 1t did not do so here.
Respondent's rellance upon a notation on Exhiblt C-7 1s insuffi-
clent to rebut the prima facle case established by complainant.
Respondent 1s therefére subjJect to the regulatory provislons
cited in the complaint which are found at 40 C.F.R. §§ 262 through
265.

The first allegation charges respondent with the fallure to
malntaln the proper personnel tralning records. The pertinent
regulation, 40 C.F.R. § 265.16, requires a generator of hazardous
waste to maintain written Job titles and Job descriptions for
each posltion at the facllity related to hazardous waste manage-
ment, the name of the employee f1lling each Job, a wrltten descrip-

tion of introductory and continuing hazardous waste training for

each employee, and records of such training. At the time of the
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inspection, it was found that respondent did not maintain or have
any of the records required by the regulations. Respondent
violated the aforementioned regulation.'

The provisions of 40 C.F.R. §§ 265.50 through 265.56 require
a generator of hazardous waste to develop and maintain a contingency
plan and emergency procedures designed to minimize hazards to
human health or the environment from fire, explosives, or any
release of hazardous waste to alr, soil or surface water. Broadly
stated, in content the plan must describe the action facility
personnel would take in response to fires, explosions, releases
or spills and the like. The plan must also provide for evacuation
and alternative evacuation routes and 1dentify and glve the name,
address and telephone number of people qualiflied to be emergency
coordinators. At the time of the inspection, respondent's’plan
was deficlent in that it had not developed a complete or updated
contingency plan which complied with the regulatory requirements.
It was thus in violation of the aforementioned cited regulation.

Generators may accumulate hazardous waste on-site for 90
days or less without a permit, provided that the date upon which
each period of accumulation begins 1s clearly marked on each
container and each contalner 1s labeled or clearly marked with
the words "Hazardous Waste." 40 C.F.R. § 262.34(a)(2)(3). On
the date of 4inspection respondent was accumulating waste in

containers that did not bear the required date and "Hazardous



- 14 -

Waste." Additionally, the 1inspection disclosed that respondent
had accumulated waste beyond 90 days.l/ As a result of these
failures, respondent 1is in violation of 40 C.F.R. § 262.34.

Also, the pertinent regulation requires a generator of
hazardous waste must locate containers of ignitable waste no less
than 15 meters from the facility property line. The inspection
revealed that respondent had 1gnitable waste located less than
the required dlstance from the facility property line. It was in
violation of 40 C.F.R. § 265.176.

Finally, 40 C.F.R. § 262.42(a)(b) require a generator who
does not receilve a copy of a manifest, with the handwritten
slgnature of the owner or operator of the designated treatment,
storage or disposal fgcility within 35 days of the date the waste
was accepted by the 1nitial transporter, to contact the transpbrter
and/or the owner or operator of the designated facility ¢to
determine the status of the hazardous waste. If the copy with
the handwritten signature from the treatment storage or disposal
facility 1s not received within 45 days, an Exception Report must
be filed with the Regional Administrator of EPA. On the date of
the inspection, it was found that respondent had not recelved a

signed copy of manifest #MI 0413405 from the designated facility

1/ The 90-day storage rule begins when material 1s first put 1in
the contalners not when the contalners are full. 47 Fed. Reg.
1250 (January 11, 1982).
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within 35 days of the shipment date and had not submitted an
Exception Report. Respondent's conduct was a violation of 40
C.F.R. § 262.42(a)(b).

It 1s concluded that respondent was in violatlion of Sectlons
3002 and 3004 of the Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 6922 and 6924, and the
regulations at 40 C.F.R. §§ 262.34, 262.42, 265.16, 265.50 through
265.56 and 265.176.

Appropriateness of the Penalty

More specifically, the proposed penalty of $15,262 sought by
complainant 1s as follows:

Alleged Violatlons Penalty Sought

1. PFallure to maintain
personnel tralning
records. $2,587

2. Fallure to develop and
maintain contingency plan
and emergency procedure. $7,475

3. Failure to submit manifest
exception. $ 300

4, Failure to locate containers
of ignitable waste no less
than 15 meters from
facility's property line. $ 300

5. Failure to date and label
hazardous waste contalners
and storage of accumulated
hazardous waste beyond
90-day limit. $4,600

Total $15,262
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The penalty computation sheet used to develop the proposed
penalty was part of EPA's civil penalty policy under the Act.
Use of the penalty policy 1in formuiating proposed penaltles
insures consistency through EPA's regilons. (Ex. C-17, 20; Tr.
145-47). The proposed penalty 1s derived by calculating the
potential for harm and extent of deviation for each violation
which 1s reflected on a matrix that shows a penalty range from
which to choose. The pollcy of Region V 1s to use the mid-point
of the ranges as the penalty amount unless there are extenuating
circumstances, which were found lacking here. (Tr. 52-53). The
penalty does not require a finding of actual harm before a penalty
may be assessed, only a potentlial for harm. (Tr. 152-55).
If the ALJ declides to assess a penalty different 1n amount from
the penalty recommended in the complaint, he shall set forth his
reasons for any 1ncrease or decrease. 40 C.F.R.. § 22.27(b).

Respondent corrected certain violations by the ¢time the
complaint was issued. However, penalties were calculated for the
three violations that had been corrected by the time the complaint
was 1ssued. This was done because EPA pollicy 1s for facilitles
to be in compliance at all times. When MDNR inspected respondent's
facility it was not in compllance. Other allegations could have

been made 1in the complaint as a result of respondent's storing

hazardous waste over the 90-day period, but complainant, 1n 1ts
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discretion, did not do this because the facility, while not a
small quantity generator, did not generate large amounts of waste.
(Tr. 140-43).

The penalty was calculated in such a manner so it was lower
than that usually arrived at in like cases. For example, the
storage and labeling violations were combined, and those dealing
with the contingency plan grouped together which caused the final
penalty calculations to be 1lower than 1f they were calculated
separately. (Tr. 148-49, 161-62).

Once an 1initial penalty is arrived at for each violation,
they may be subject to any of five adjustment factors: good failth
efforts to comply, willfulness or negligence, history of noncom-
pliance, ability to pay and other unique efforts. (Ex. C-20 at 4,
16-21; Tr. 156-57). The willfulness/negligence adjustment factor
was properly applied to violations not corrected by the time
complaint was 1issued due to the extended period of noncompliance
by respondent after the initlal discovery of the violations. An
enforcement agency 1s not required to exercise the patience of
unanswered prayer. Delayed compliance is no compliance. Respon-
dent could have had a 25 percent increase in its penalty. Com-
plainant reduced this to 15 percent, There are no convincing

reasons to reduce 1t further.

Regarding good falith efforts, no downward adjustment was

made by complainant. This was proper concerning the violations
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not remedied by the time the complaint was 1issued. The penalty
policy provides that no downward adjustment should be made 1if
purported good falth efforts consist brimarily of a respondent
ultimately coming into compliance. (Ex. C-20 at 17, Tr. 159).
However, good falith 1s a conslideration regarding correctilon
of violations before issuance of a complaint. Section 6928(a)(3)
of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 6928(a)(3) provides that in 1issulng a
complaint and assessing a penalty, "The Administrator shall take
into account . . . any godd faith efforts to comply with applicable
requirements."ﬁ/ By the time the complaint was 1ssued in this
case, respondent had come iInto compliance concerning three of six
violations: fallure to submit manifest exception, failure to
locate containers of ignitable waste no 1less than 15 meters
from facllity's propérty line and fallure to date and 1label
hazardous waste containers. To eliminate the total penalty for
each of these provisions would erode the deterrent effect of a
penalty. The Act requires compliance at all times, not by the
time the complaint is issued. However, in consideration of respon-
dent's good faith efforts to remedy the violations once dlscovered,
the penalty as to those three violations will be reduced 75

percent. The penalty to be assessed 1s as follows:

8/ In the Matter of A. Y. McDonald Industries, RCRA (3008) Appeal
No. 86-2, n. 31 at 29 (July 23, 1987). Good faith efforts warrant
reduction,.
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Violation Penalty Assessed
1. PFallure to maintain
personnel training records. - $2,587
2. Failure to develop and
maintain contingency plan
and emergency procedures. $7,475

3. Fallure to submit manifest
exception. $ 100

}, Pallure to locate containers

of ignitable waste no less than

15 meters from facility's

property line. o $ 100

5. PFallure to label and date
hazardous waste containers and
storage of accumulated hazardous

waste beyond 90-day limit. $2,300 9/
Total $12,562

The burden of showing inability to pay rests with respondent.
However, respondent did not raise the 1issue of 1inabllity to pay
and 1t was proper for complalnant not to consider this factor.

The last two adjustment factors are 1inapplicable to this
case. There 1s an absence of other unique factors and respondent's

history of compllance was not an 1issue., Based upon the totality

9/ 1In calculating the original penalty, complainant combined the
Tabeling and dating violations with the 90-day storage violation
to get a total penalty of $4,600. Respondent remedied only the
labeling and dating violations by the time of the complaint and
18 therefore only entitled to a reduction of 75% for good faith
as to those two violatlions. Thils was achleved by dividing the
total $4,600 penalty into three which sets the penalty for each
violation at $1,533. The $1,533 was then reduced by 75% for both
the labeling and dating violations bringing the penalty as to
each of them down to $383 (or $766 for both). Then, $1,533 for
the 90-day storage violation was added to get a total penalty
of $2,300 for the three violations. (All figures are rounded.)
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of evidence and adjustment factors, the appropriate penalty in

this matter 1is $12,562.

ORDER 10/

Pursuant to Section 3008 of the Resource Conservation and
Recovery Act, 42 U.S.C. § 6928, the following order 1s entered
against respondent Country Roads, Inc.:

I. A civil penalty 1in the amount of $12,562 1s assessed
'against the respondent.

IT. Payment of the full amount of the civil penalty shall
be made within sixty (60) days after a receipt of the final order,
40 c.F.R. § 22.31(b), by submitting a certified or cashier's
check payable to the Treasurer, United States of Amerlca, and
malled to: |

EPA - Region V
Reglonal Hearing Clerk

P. 0. Box 70753
Chicago, Illinois 60673

led Q. a«du,ér&—c
Frank W. Vanderheyddg
Administrative Law Judge

Dated: u'7 /5 /?f7

10/ Unless an appeal is taken pursuant to the Rules of Practice,
70 C.F.R. § 22.30, or the Administrator elects to review this
decision sua sponte, the Initlal Decision shall become the final
order of the Administrator. 40 C.F.R. § 22.27(c).
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